
 

 

Please ask for Democratic Services: Telephone 01775 764626  

e-mail: demservices@sholland.gov.uk 

 

AGENDA 
 
 
 

 

Committee - PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL 
 
Date & Time - Monday, 13 July 2020 at 6.30 pm 
 

Venue - This will be a meeting held in line with The 
Local Authorities & Police & Crime Panels 
(Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority & 
Police & Crime Panel Meetings) (England & 
Wales) Regulations 2020 

 
  The meeting will be held virtually via Zoom and 

streamed live, via the following link: 
 
  www.facebook.com/SouthHollandDCofficial/ 

 

Membership of the Performance Monitoring Panel: 
 
Councillors: B Alcock (Chairman), J R Astill, A C Beal, M D Booth (Vice-Chairman), 
C J T H Brewis, A C Cronin, R Grocock, J L King, J D McLean, N H Pepper, 
P A Redgate, G P Scalese, A C Tennant, S C Walsh and D J Wilkinson 
 
Substitute members on the Performance Monitoring Panel may be appointed only 
from members who are not on the Cabinet.  Substitutions apply for individual 
meetings only.  
 
Quorum: 5 

 

 Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn their mobile telephones to 

silent mode 

Democratic Services 
Council Offices, Priory Road 
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE 
 
Date:   9 July 2020 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

http://www.facebook.com/SouthHollandDCofficial/


 

 

A G E N D A 
 
1  Apologies for absence. 

  
 

2  Declaration of Interests. -  
Where a Councillor has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest the Councillor 
must declare the interest and leave the meeting without participating in 
any discussion or making a statement on the item, except where a 
councillor is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of dispensation. 
 

 

3  Call In (Re-opening of South Holland's Markets, and Spalding Market 
Stall provision) -  
At its meeting on 16 June 2020, the Cabinet made a number of 
decisions relating to the re-opening of South Holland’s markets, and 
Spalding market stall provision.  In accordance with the Constitution, this 
proposed decision has been called in by Councillors A M Newton, M 
Hasan and R Gibson. 
 
Please find attached the following documents: 
 
Appendix A Cabinet covering report and Appendix A – 16 

June 2020 

Appendix B Cabinet minute - 16 June 2020 

Appendix C NABMA Social Distancing Guidance  

Appendix D Market Charter 

Appendix E Market Timeline 

Appendix F Member Stall Feedback 

Appendix G Budget Information 

Appendix H Appendix B to Cabinet report – Cabinet 16 

June 2020 (Exempt paragraphs 1 and 3)  

Appendix I NABMA report (Exempt Paragraph 3) 

Appendix J Market Trader Feedback (Exempt 

paragraphs 1 and 2) 

Appendix K Risk Assessment Statement (Exempt 

paragraphs 1 and 2) 

 

(Please note that appendices H, I, J and K to this report are not for 
publication by virtue of Paragraphs 1 (Information relating to any 
individual), 2 (Information which is likely to reveal the identity of any 
individual) and 3 (Information relating to the financial or business affairs 
of any particular person (including the authority holding that 
information)) in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and are therefore attached to this agenda at item 6. 
 
The call-in will be considered in the following order: 
 

 Chairman’s introduction 
 

 The members that have called in the decision to inform the Panel of 
the reasons for the call-in (maximum 10 minutes) 

 

(Pages 
5 - 54) 

Page 2



 

 

 Relevant Portfolio Holder to set out the reasons for the proposed 
decision (maximum 10 minutes) 

 

 Questions – The Panel will then have the opportunity to ask 
questions of the Portfolio Holder 

 
There are three options open to the Panel when drawing its conclusions 
on the call-in: 
 

a) Take no further action; 
 

b) Refer the proposed decision back to the Cabinet, setting out the 
nature of its concerns; 

 
c) If, having taken officer advice, the Panel considers that the 

decision is contrary to the Policy Framework or Budget, it may 
refer the matter to Full Council. 

 
4  Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent -  

 
NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by reason of special 

circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the 
Chairman is of the opinion that the item(s) should be 
considered as a matter of urgency. 

 

 

5  To consider resolving that, under Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
  

 

6  Call-In (Re-opening of South Holland's Markets and Spalding Market 
Stall Provision) -  
To consider exempt appendices H, I, J and K to the report at agenda 
item 3 (Appendices H, I, J and K enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
55 - 90) 

 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Report of: The Executive Manager - Governance (Deputy Monitoring Officer) 

  

To: Performance Monitoring Panel Monday, 13 July 2020 

 

(Author: Christine Morgan Democratic Services Officer) 

 

Subject Call In (Re-opening of South Holland's Markets, and Spalding Market Stall 

provision) 

 

Purpose: To explain the background to the Call-In and the process to be followed by the 

Panel  

 

 
Recommendation:  
 
That the Panel considers the content of this report and the supporting documentation, and 
considers the options available to it, as detailed within section 3 of this report. 
 
 

 

1.0 BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 On 16 June 2020, the Cabinet considered the report of the Executive Director of Place 

regarding the re-opening of South Holland Markets and Spalding Market Stall Provision. 

 

1.2 The following decisions were made by the Cabinet: 

 

1. That, in order to secure the safe re-opening of South Holland District Council markets, 
in line with government guidance introduced due to Covid-19: 

 
a) The current practice of erecting and dismantling SHDC stalls at Spalding Tuesday 

and Saturday markets be suspended; 
b) The removal of trade waste by South Holland District Council at Holbeach, Long 

Sutton and Crowland markets be terminated, thereby making the service equitable 
across all markets; 

c) A book and pay system for traders who wish to stand at any SHDC market be 
introduced to enable a planned approach to market layouts each week and remove 
the need for cash handling, both of which assist with the opening of Covid-safe 
markets; 

d) In the event that, following the consultation referred to in Appendix B of the report, 
the current practice of erecting and dismantling stalls at the Spalding market is 
ended, the fees for Spalding traders be amended as shown at paragraph 1.20 of the 
report; 

e) A rent free period be introduced for traders until 31 July 2020 to support the 
recovery of markets; 

f) Social distancing procedures be introduced at all markets including changing the 
layouts to accommodate the new government guidance; 

g) The market trader handbook be amended in line with the above recommendations; 
h) The following toilets be re-opened with an enhanced, hourly cleaning regime: 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



a) Spalding Vine Street and Winfrey Avenue, Tuesday to Saturday 8am to 
4pm; 

b) Long Sutton and Holbeach, Monday to Friday 8am – 2pm. 
 

2. That the Portfolio Holder for Place be authorised to: 
 

a) designate a statutory market at Victoria Street car park should the volume of traders 
increase to such a point that it is deemed appropriate to enable the Spalding 
markets to operate safely in accordance with Governance guidance; and 

b) make a recommendation to Full Council or the appropriate Chief Officer (in 
consultation with the Chief Executive) in relation to any proposed impact on 
employment arising from the consultation process referred to in Appendix B; and 

 
3. That the Environmental Services Manager be authorised, in consultation with the 

Portfolio Holder for Place, to 
 

a) Undertake the necessary consultation in relation to any proposed impact on 
employment referred to in Appendix B of the report; 

b) Change fees as set out; 
c) Procure and implement a book and pay system 
d) To continue to monitor the government guidance as part of the Covid-19 response 

and make amendments alongside guidance changes, as requested. 
e) Establish a Covid compliant market in the Market Place, Long Sutton if a road 

closure order can be obtained via the local Highway Authority and arrangements 
prove viable and achievable. If no such closure can be obtained the market to be 
established in the nearby council owned car park. 
 

1.3 A copy of the report and the appendices considered by the Cabinet are attached, in 

addition to other relevant information for the Panel’s consideration.  Note that appendices 

H, I, J and K contain confidential information, and are therefore not for publication by virtue 

of paragraphs (1) (information relating to any individual), (2) (Information which is likely to 

reveal the identity of any individual) and (3) (Information relating to the financial or business 

affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information)) of Part 1 of 

Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.  A copy of these appendices is included 

with the agenda for members of the Panel.  

 

2.0 CALL-IN 

 

2.1 In accordance with the Constitution, when a proposed decision has been made by the 

Cabinet, all councillors receive a copy of the decision notice (the minutes).  The decision 

notice states that the proposed decisions contained in it will come into force on the expiry of 

5 working days from the date of its publication, unless the proposed decision is called in. 

 

 If a councillor wishes to call in a proposed decision, notice must be given by way of a call-in 

 form, to the Executive Manager-Governance, by the expiry date shown on the decision 

 notice. 

  The decision can be called-in in the following way: 

 

 By a Ward Representative (in relation to a matter in their ward); or 

 Two members of the Performance Monitoring Panel; or 

 Any three members 
 

Page 6



 The notice must be signed by at least one councillor (as above), and must also specify: 
 

 The reason(s) for the call in, and  
 

Either: 

 What action the councillor(s) who made the call-in consider the decision maker should 
take to address those concerns  

 
Or  

 What alternative decision the councillor(s) would like to see taken. 
 
2.2 The decision was called in by Councillors A M Newton, M Hasan and R Gibson, who 
 stated: 
 
 ‘We do not feel full and proper information has been available to all’. 
 
2.3 Councillors Newton, Hasan and Gibson consider the following alternative decision should 
 be made: 
 
 ‘Stalls should continue to be provided at Spalding market until the end of this financial year, 
 or until proper and meaningful discussion is held with market traders, or their 
 representatives’. 
  
3.0 OPTIONS 

 

3.1 The Panel has the following options: 

 

a. To take no further action in relation to the call in (in this event, the proposed decision 

will take effect from the date of the Panel meeting).   

 

b. To refer the proposed decision back to Cabinet setting out in writing the nature of its  

concerns.  (In this event, the Cabinet will re-consider the matter within 15 working days.  

Having regard to the views of the Panel, the Cabinet will make a final decision, which 

may or may not amend the original decision.  This decision will not be subject to call-in 

(unless it is believed to be contrary to the Policy Framework or Budget). The Cabinet 

must explain the decision in relation to the concerns raised by the call in. 

 

c. If, having taken officer advice, the Panel considers that the decision is contrary to the 

Policy Framework or Budget, it may refer the matter to full Council.  In this event, the 

Council will consider the matter within 15 days.  If the Council does not consider the 

decision to be contrary to the Policy Framework or Budget, then it becomes effective on 

the date of the Council meeting. If the Council decides that it is contrary to the Policy 

Framework or Budget, then it can approve an amendment to the Policy Framework or 

Budget, in which case the decision will take effect from the date of the Council meeting.  

If the Council refuses to amend the Policy Framework or Budget, it can refer the matter 

back to Cabinet, who have to meet to consider the matter within 15 days.  The 

Cabinet’s decision is not subject to call in.  If the Council approves an amendment to 

the Policy Framework or Budget it can still refer the matter back to Cabinet for final 

decision – again, this matter is not subject to call in. 

 

Page 7



4.0 IMPLICATIONS 

 

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 

decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;  

Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 

Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 

Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; 

Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be 

implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below. 

 

4.1 Constitutional & Legal 

 

4.1.1 Provision for call-in is a legal and constitutional requirement. The options and process are 

set out in the body of the report. 

 

4.2 Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales 

 

4.2.1 The call-in timetable is set out in the body of the report 

 

5.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

 

5.1 Spalding and users of the Spalding markets. 

 

6.0 ACRONYMS 

 

6.1 None. 

 

Background papers:-  Notice of call in  

 

Lead Contact Officer 

Name and Post: Christine Morgan Democratic Services Officer 

Telephone Number  

Email: cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk 

 

Key Decision: N  

Exempt Decision: N 

 

Appendices attached to this report:  

 

Appendix A Cabinet covering report and Appendix A – 16 June 2020 

Appendix B Cabinet minute - 16 June 2020 

Appendix C NABMA Social Distancing Guidance  

Appendix D Market Charter 

Appendix E Market Timeline 

Appendix F Member Stall Feedback 

Appendix G Budget Information 

 

Exempt appendices attached to this report (Please note that the following appendices are 

not for publication by virtue of Paragraphs 1 (Information relating to any individual), 2  

(Information which is likely to reveal the identity of any individual) and 3 (Information  

relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority  

Page 8



holding that information)): 

 

Appendix H Appendix B to Cabinet report – Cabinet 16 June 2020 (Exempt 

paragraphs 1 and 3)  

Appendix I NABMA report (Exempt Paragraph 3) 

Appendix J Market Trader Feedback (Exempt paragraphs 1 and 2) 

Appendix K Risk Assessment Statement (Exempt paragraphs 1 and 2) 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A 

SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Report of: Executive Director - Commercialisation  

  

To: Cabinet Tuesday, 16 June 2020  

 

(Author: Charlotte Paine Environmental Services Manager) 

 

Subject Re-Opening of South Holland Markets and Spalding Market Stall Provision 

 

Purpose: To consider the options for re-opening the markets in South Holland and the 

market stalls provision at Spalding market  

 

 
Recommendations: 
 

1) That, in order to secure the safe re-opening of South Holland District Council markets, in 
line with government guidance introduced due to Covid-19, 
 

a. the current practice of erecting and dismantling SHDC stalls at Spalding Tuesday 
and Saturday markets be suspended;  

b. the removal of trade waste by South Holland District Council at Holbeach, Long 
Sutton and Crowland markets be terminated, thereby making the service 
equitable across all markets; 

c. a book and pay system for traders who wish to stand at any SHDC market be 
introduced to enable a planned approach to market layouts each week and 
remove the need for cash handling, both of which assist with the opening of 
Covid-safe markets; 

d. in the event that, following the consultation referred to in Appendix B, the current 
practice of erecting and dismantling stalls at the Spalding market is ended, the 
fees for Spalding market traders be amended as shown at paragraph 1.20;    

e. a rent free period be introduced for traders until 31st July 2020 to support the 
recovery of markets; 

f. social distancing procedures be introduced at all markets including changing the 
layouts to accommodate the new government guidance;   

g. the market trader handbook be amended in line with the above 
recommendations: 

h. the following toilets be re-opened with an enhanced, hourly cleaning regime: 
a. Spalding Vine Street and Winfrey Avenue Tuesday to Saturday 8am to 

4pm; 
b. Long Sutton and Holbeach Monday to Friday 8am to 2pm. 

 
2) That the portfolio holder for Place be authorised to:  

 
a. designate a statutory market at Victoria Street car park, Spalding should the volume 

of traders increase to such a point that it is deemed appropriate to enable the 
Spalding markets to operate safely in accordance with Government guidance; and 

 
b. make a recommendation to Full Council or the appropriate Chief Officer (in 

consultation with the Chief Executive) in relation to any proposed impact on 
employment arising from the consultation process referred to at Appendix B; and 

Page 11



 
3) That the Environmental Services Manager be authorised, in consultation with the 

Portfolio Holder for Place, to: 
a. Undertake the necessary consultation in relation to any proposed impact on  

employment referred to in Appendix B;  
b. Change fees as set out; 
c. Procure and implement a book and pay system; 
d. To continue to monitor the government guidance as part of the Covid-19 

response and make amendments alongside guidance changes, as required. 
  

 

An officer decision was published on 9th June which put in place a number of temporary decisions 

until such time as this cabinet report was implementable. These are now included within this 

report.  

 

1) BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 The impact of Covid-19 on the UK has meant that the government had to make the 
decision to introduce lock-down and shut certain retail outlets, including markets. On 
24th March the decision was made to close markets in South Holland following 
government guidance and for the safety of our traders, staff and visitors.  
 

1.2 As the lock-down on England eased, the government announced on 24th May that 
outdoor markets could reopen from 1st June, so long as they were ‘Covid safe’. This 
term refers to measures such as social distancing, safe site layouts and clear signage 
being in place at all markets in order for them to open.  

 

1.3 Markets are an important part of our towns and should be opened as soon as they are 
safe to do so. Markets cannot re-open as they were previously as government guidance 
states that measures such as social distancing must be implemented to make them 
safe to re-open. Therefore changes have needed to be made to the markets including 
location, layout, pitch booking and stall provision, to make them safe and provide 
confidence to those returning to our towns. 

 

1.4 As part of the budget for 2020/21 the Council has a significant savings target and this 
service was identified as an area with the potential for generating service efficiencies in-
year. 

 

1.5 Having considered the government and national market body NABMA, guidance we 
have assessed each market to understand the changes required to ensure our markets 
are ‘Covid safe’ and can therefore re-open. There are a number of key changes that will 
be made across the South Holland markets of Spalding, Crowland, Holbeach and Long 
Sutton. Some changes are relevant to all markets whereas some are site specific. The 
report makes clear which markets will be impacted by the changes proposed. 

 

1.6 Alongside the work that the council has done to review the government guidance, we 
have also been in contact with traders. Calls were made with traders in May and June 
to discuss implications of the Covid outbreak and potential changes that may need to 
be considered to allow for the safe and efficient re-opening of markets.  

 

1.7 The market specific guidance released by NABMA states ‘Social distancing will be 
needed until at least the end of the year to prevent fresh outbreaks of coronavirus even 
though the UK has reached the peak of the current epidemic’, therefore we must ensure 
we make the markets safe now and into the coming months. One of the key ways to do 

Page 12



this will be ensuring the layouts of our markets can support social distancing guidelines, 
which are that we remain 2m apart. 

 

1.8 We reviewed each market to ensure that we can introduce these changes and have 
considered a number of approaches for this, including new locations for markets and 
altering where pitches are in each market. This report includes, in Appendix A, a 
proposed layout for the Spalding Market that has been drawn up taking social 
distancing guidelines into account for traders, businesses, customers and the public. 
The proposals have considered where businesses may require space to introduce their 
own queuing systems outside their shops and how we can ensure the markets do not 
impact on the safety of these.  

 

1.9 In order to ensure that we can maintain safe layouts for our markets, it is vital that we 
know which traders are looking to attend each market. It is also important that we, like 
others such as supermarkets, introduce safe methods of payment. Therefore we are 
recommending to introduce an online book and pay system for traders at all markets. 
This will enable traders to book on to the market they would like to stand and make 
payment. It removes the risk of cash handling between traders to staff and gives South 
Holland advance notice of trader numbers to monitor safe layouts. 

 

1.10 Whilst reviewing the market layouts, it was considered that minimal changes were 
required to Crowland and Holbeach markets given their size and location. Therefore 
there are no layout changes proposed. However, Spalding and Long Sutton both 
require changes to what was considered the normal layout prior to the outbreak. 

 

1.11 Long Sutton has been reviewed to consider its proximity to the businesses and the 
road. Safety is the primary concern for SHDC when re-opening the markets. Not only 
for our traders but the businesses, customers and visitors to the towns and markets.  

 

1.12 After seeking initial advice from Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) highways, we were 
aware that the potential for closing the road was very limited and in order to enable the 
efficient re-opening of the market, a proposal to re-locate the market in the SHDC 
owned car park in West Street was provided to the Parish and Ward members. At this 
time there is no agreed consensus for the safe location of the market and whilst we are 
unable to provide a timescale for re-opening, we continue to work through feedback 
received from ward members to establish a safe and legal option for the opening of this 
market. 

 

1.13 During the outbreak some traders contacted the council to request permission to trade. 
They were within the government guidelines for food retail that could remain open, 
therefore these traders have been trading using a street trading licence. They will likely 
remain trading under such licence until the market location and safety is agreed. 

 

1.14 In Spalding there were similar issues regarding the layout of the market and how we 
could safely re-instate the market without much disruption. Consideration was given to 
moving the market to Victoria Street car park due to the early representations from 
traders about the numbers wanting to return to the market immediately. During the 
second consultation with traders, numbers reduced with some looking to return in future 
weeks and consideration was given to the original locations of Market Place and Hall 
Place, being retained with some traders needing to relocate to Sheep Market. 

 

1.15 The proposed layout in Appendix A shows the markets new positioning in the town and 
flows along with the one way system that has been introduced for pedestrian traffic.  

 

Page 13



1.16 Whilst we may be able to maintain the market close to its original position in Market 
Place currently, it will be necessary to move traders from their usual pitch site in order 
to adhere to guidance and facilitate use of Sheep Market to avoid a more disruptive 
move. Should the market traders increase to such a point that we are unable to 
maintain safe distances, we may need to consider moving the market to Victoria Street 
or reducing the number of traders or size of stalls, in consultation with the traders. 

 

1.17 Should we require a move of the market to Victoria Street, this will be done in 
accordance with section 50 of the Food Act 1984.  The Council's market rights are 
contained in a conveyance to the former Spalding Town Commissioners dated 19 
January 1876.  The wording of the conveyance is unclear, but it is considered that the 
Victoria Street car park does not come within the area of the Council's existing market 
rights.  Therefore, in order to hold markets on the Victoria Street car park, it is 
necessary to establish new markets under the provisions of the Food Act 1984. 

 
1.18 If it becomes necessary, due to the number of traders wishing to stand at the Spalding 

markets, to give further consideration to a relocation of the market to Victoria Street to 
ensure a safe market in Spalding, this would be undertaken in consultation with the 
leader and portfolio holder. Discussions will also be taken with representatives of the 
market traders.  

 

1.19 As part of the assessment for safe market re-opening consideration was also given to 
the provision of stalls. Spalding Market is the only market that we provide for which we 
erect and dismantle the market stalls. The market here is held weekly every Tuesday 
and Saturday and staff of environmental services are responsible for storing, delivering 
and pre-erecting the market stalls. 5 members of staff are required to do this, including 
a tractor driver for approximately 4 hours per market day. 

 

1.20 The potential for close proximity working for staff who erect and dismantle the market 
stalls, were considered when proposing the suspension of this service, as well as 
ensuring fairness across the markets as we do not provide them at other locations. It is 
acknowledged that alongside the recommendation for the removal of this service, there 
should be a resulting change to the charges for those standing at Spalding market. 

 

1.21 A benchmarking exercise was undertaken to establish a suitable charge for Spalding 
market if stalls were no longer provided. Based on this, it is recommended that the fees 
for long term pitch traders be reduced, following the outcome of the proposals in 
Appendix B.  

 

1.22 The changes proposed would be to move from £17.40 currently charged for a 2.4m stall 
provided by SHDC to £11.20 for an equivalent size 2.4m stall that traders would supply 
themselves (£14.00 for a 3m pitch). This is a competitive price when compared to local 
charges identified in the benchmarking exercise as set out in the table below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 14



 

Costs Stall Provided  Bring Your Own Stall 

Council 
Casual 
Traders 

Stall 

Long Term 
traders 

Stall 
Casual Pitch Long Term Pitch 

South Holland 

Current Prices 
£20.40 £17.40 

£1.90 per 300mm 
(£19 for 3m) 

£1.90 per 300mm 
(£19 for 3m) 

South Holland 

New Prices based on 
Bring Your Own Stall 

- - 
£1.90 per 300mm 

(£19 for 3m) 
£1.40 per 300m 
(£14.00 for 3m) 

South Kesteven - 
Bourne 

£21.00 £19.30 
£16.75 

(3.05m x 3.05m ) 
£16.25 

(3.05m x 3.05m) 

Boston Borough £26.00 £23.00 - - 

West Lindsey - 
Tuesday 

£17.50 £16.00 - - 

 
 

1.23 The detail regarding the impact of the changes to potentially removing stall provision is 
available in Appendix B which is an exempt item under paragraphs 1 and 3. 
 

1.24 Further to this, we have identified another area in which we have a policy which differs 
across markets. Currently for all markets other than Spalding, traders do not always 
take their waste with them. This has required SHDC to remove this waste through a 
trade waste arrangement with LCC. This practice comes at a cost to SHDC with 
expenses incurred for staff, vehicles and trade waste disposal. It is recommended that 
this practice is changed so that traders at all markets remove their own waste. This will 
ensure equity across all our markets. 

 

1.25 To further support our traders to return to the markets post the government lockdown, 
we recommend that the fee to stand should be waived between the re-opening and the 
31st July. This will enable our traders to return as the confidence increases within the 
public to return to our town which should in turn mean a footfall increase across the 
district. Traders will still be required to book online to acknowledge their desire to stand 
on each market and support safe layouts. 

 

1.26 In order to support traders, a review of the market trader handbook will be undertaken 
to align it with the changes that are detailed in this report and ensure that they are 
relevant to current and upcoming government guidance. It will likely be necessary for 
further changes to be made to the markets in consultation with the leader and portfolio 
holder as government guidance changes in the coming months.  
 

2) OPTIONS 

 

2.1 Option One – Make changes as outlined to enable the opening of the markets in line 

with government guidance. This will ensure that traders and customers can feel safe to 

return to our towns and shop locally, thereby supporting the local economy. Those changes 

include; 

 

 Introducing an online book and pay system 

 Changing layouts at Spalding and Long Sutton markets 

 Suspending the provision of stalls in Spalding market 

 Amending the fees for traders in Spalding should stall provision cease 

Page 15



 Ceasing the removal of trade waste at markets by SHDC 

 Introducing a rent free period for market traders until 31st July 2020  

 Re-opening of toilets in Spalding, Long Sutton and Holbeach with an hourly cleaning 

regime. 

 

2.2 Option Two – Do nothing and therefore markets cannot re-open safely in the current 

Covid environment. This option does not support our market towns, local economy, 

traders or residents to buy locally and is not the preferred option of this report.   

 

3) REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

3.1 The re-opening of markets is key to the vitality of our towns and local economy. The 

markets must open swiftly but safely and in line with government guidance. Ensuring the 

safety of our traders, businesses, town and market visitors and residents is of utmost 

importance to SHDC. Therefore we must make changes to allow the markets to open in 

line with guidance and provide confidence to those returning to our towns. 

 

3.2 Each of the recommendations feeds into the wider picture of a safe and secure market offer 

whilst ensuring that alternative approaches, which can create savings for the council, are 

implemented where appropriate. 

 

3.3 The introduction of an online book and pay system for traders is the first step in ensuring 

our markets are laid out safely and appropriate for each market’s needs. The best way for 

us to be able to monitor these layouts and flex and grow in the coming months is to have 

an accurate picture of the traders that wish to stand, their required pitch size and also 

reduce the need for face to face interaction for money collection. 

 

3.4 Once we understand the numbers of traders wishing to stand, we must ensure that layouts 

are Covid safe. This means that we are complying with government and NABMA guidance. 

NABMA has a checklist of guidelines/considerations that can assist with making sure 

markets are safely re-opened and adhering to the 2m requirements. These include; 

 

 Limiting customer numbers  

 Managing aisle width 

 Considering stall layout and numbers 

 Creating one way systems 

 Using barriers  

 Installing signage 

 

3.5 We have considered all of the above and have implemented the guidance to ensure our 

proposed layouts address each of these areas for safe distances between stalls, 

businesses and pedestrian traffic. 

 

3.6 The suspension of the current provision of stalls in Spalding is recommended whilst we 

review the impact of Covid and close proximity working and consider the financial 

implications for SHDC for maintaining the service. More detail regarding this is available in 

Appendix B. 

 

3.7 It is recommended that in light of the proposed stall provision suspension that the rent 

charges for Spalding be reviewed in line with the benchmarking exercise undertaken. This 

Page 16



will support the traders and recognises that the removal of this service should result in a 

reduction in costs for traders where the costs have been reduced for SHDC. 

 

3.8 The removal of trade waste that is only currently available at some, not all, markets 

provides an inequity which should be addressed. The practice comes at a cost to SHDC 

which is set to increase following changes to the charges for disposal levied by LCC. 

 

3.9 It is important that we re-open the markets safely and that we support traders to return and 

therefore, the proposal to support traders with a rent free period until 31st July enables 

traders to return in the coming weeks whilst confidence is returned to the public to visit our 

towns. The re-opening of the toilets in these towns is important to support the public back 

to them. However, as with everything in a Covid climate, changes are required. 

 

3.10 It is therefore recommended that the Spalding toilets in Vine Street and Winfrey Avenue to 

re-open Tuesday to Saturday 8am to 4pm with an hourly cleaning regime. These hours are 

recommended as they fall across the towns’ previously busy times and enable the 

restructuring of staff hours and duties to provide enhanced cleaning. For Long Sutton and 

Holbeach, the recommendation is to re-open Monday to Friday 8am to 2pm. Again these 

are considered the busy times in the towns and will enable the improved cleaning regime 

within current staffing levels. In Crowland, the toilets are maintained by the parish with 

support from SHDC and we have been in touch regarding our plans and suggested working 

practices. 

 

4) EXPECTED BENEFITS 

 

4.1 The overall aim of this report is to support our local economy, our traders, businesses and 

the visitors to our towns and markets to return safely following the Covid restrictions. 

Without these changes, our markets could not re-open. 

 

4.2 Each of the recommendations assists with the safe re-opening of the markets in the 

quickest and safest way possible. These benefits include; 

 

 Providing confidence to visitors and customers that the layouts of markets have been 

reviewed to ensure safe distancing; 

 Reducing potential for cash handling between SHDC staff and traders; 

 Providing real-time information regarding the number of traders due at each market and 

therefore supporting safe layouts; 

 Enabling layouts to flex and grow with the number of traders due and thereby reduce 

the need to move markets where not required if numbers are steady; 

 Enabling one way systems for safe pedestrian traffic around the markets with clear 

signage to support customers and visitors; 

 Reducing the risk of close proximity working when erecting and dismantling stalls; 

 Potentially providing savings to SHDC; 

 Enabling savings to be passed to traders by reducing pitch fees to those in Spalding no 

longer using the SHDC stalls; 

 Creating an equal service for all markets where no market receives trade waste 

collections; 

 Supporting traders to return with a period of rent free pitch hire to the end of July whilst 

consumer confidence grows; 

Page 17



 Providing an improved cleaning regime for the toilets in a Covid environment without 

the need for additional staffing costs. 

 

4.3 All of these changes will be reflected in the policy handbook which will be updated to further 

support current and new traders. 

 

5) IMPLICATIONS 

 

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 

decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;  

Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 

Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 

Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; 

Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be 

implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below. 

 

5.1 Constitutional & Legal 

 
5.1.1 Apart from amending the Council's establishment, the issues detailed in this report are 

executive functions.   

 

5.1.2 In normal circumstances, any proposal to amend the establishment would be submitted to 

full Council for consideration, but a further full Council meeting will not be held until 

September 2020 and it is not yet known when any later meeting will be held.  In the 

circumstances, the recommendations acknowledge that any decision to amend the 

Council's establishment arising from the consultation detailed in Appendix B may be taken 

by the Chief Executive under her emergency delegated powers at paragraph 6 of Part 3 

Section F2 of the Constitution. 

 

5.1.3 The Council's market rights are contained in a conveyance to the former Spalding Town 

Commissioners dated 19 January 1876. They allow for the market to stand as it does 

currently in Market Place and Hall Place and gives provision for Sheep Market to be used.   

 

5.1.4 It is considered that the Victoria Street car park does not come within the area of the 

Council's existing market rights, and another vehicle must be used in order to establish 

markets on the car park, should that be necessary. Therefore, it is proposed that a statutory 

market may be that vehicle. An additional statutory markets will not affect the Council's 

existing market rights, should it be required. 

 

5.1.5 The Council's off-street car parking places order makes provision for the Council to close all 

or parts of its car parks as appropriate which will enable the markets to be held on the car 

park.  

 

5.2 Corporate Priorities 

 

5.2.1 By making these changes, we are looking to support our local economy, traders and 

businesses and therefore achieve our corporate aim to ‘Support Spalding and Holbeach to 

be attractive places that people want to visit, live and work while supporting all other towns 

and villages in the district to meet the needs of their communities.’  

 

5.3 Financial 

Page 18



 

5.3.1 The impact of Covid nationally has been unprecedented both socially and economically. 

The same is true for the impact to SHDC, but the need to re-open our markets ‘Covid safe’ 

is clear and vital to the recovery of our economy. Therefore the proposals in this report are 

looking at both how we can safely re-open and also the cost impacts of doing so. 

 

5.3.2 Many of the proposals do not come with additional cost implications, an example of this is 

the proposed toilet re-openings which come with enhanced cleaning but due to the 

proposed changes to opening hours, can be sustained in current staffing levels. 

 

5.3.3 The introduction of a book and pay system will have a financial impact. In the interim a free 

online web form is being created to support the requirement for SHDC to understand trader 

numbers, but whilst pitch rents are free until the end of July, a payment system is not 

required. We continue to appraise options for a more permanent book and pay solution that 

will support markets but also other areas of the council that have the requirements of such 

a system to enable digital working. Further to this, the procurement of such a system will 

likely lead to efficiencies in current practices, such as the time taken handling money and 

also audit recommendations regarding the safety of this practice. 

 

5.3.4 There are financial implications to the proposal to suspend the provision of the market stalls 

in Spalding. Further detail regarding this is provided in Appendix B. Should the resulting 

decision be to cease this provision, it is a recommendation that the fees for traders be 

reviewed in line with the removal of a service and benchmarking that has been undertaken. 

The financial implications of this are considered in line with any savings that may be 

available following the change in service provision. 

 

5.3.5 There is a recommendation to support traders with free pitch rent until the end of July 2020. 

This is considered appropriate to support the return of traders following many weeks being 

unable to trade, and in some cases being unable to acquire normal levels of stock. 

Alongside this, footfall may be lower than previously and SHDC would like to support 

traders as we work to build confidence in our towns and markets post lock-down. 

 

5.3.6 The recommendation to cease collection of trade waste at all markets will see a saving for 

SHDC. Last year the costs for disposal alone was in excess of £3,000 and the coming year 

we were due to see an increase in that cost of 10% due to increases to LCC charges. In 

addition to this, we see staffing and vehicle costs for the collection of this waste which 

means that the cessation of this trade waste collection will save SHDC around £11,000 for 

2020/21 and ensure all markets receive the same level of service regarding trade waste 

removal. 

 

5.4 Reputation 

 

5.4.1 The proposals take into consideration the needs of the local economy and our traders and 

the safety of our residents, traders and visitors to the towns, whilst weighing up the financial 

burdens to the council and its tax payers. Without these changes, the markets would not be 

in a position to re-open in the current climate. This would have a negative impact on the 

reputation of the council. 

 

5.4.2 During this process we have worked to engage with traders as much as possible, with calls 

directly to them about the potential need for change to make the markets safe to re-open. 

We have made amendments to original proposals based on feedback and will continue to 

Page 19



alter alongside changes to government guidance and increases to traders and footfall traffic 

that may impede the social distancing requirements. 

 

5.4.3 This willingness to listen, observe and alter plans for the benefit of all should further support 

the reputation of the council and our desire to ‘Support Spalding and Holbeach to be 

attractive places that people want to visit, live and work while supporting all other towns 

and villages in the district to meet the needs of their communities.’   

 

5.5 Risk Management 

 

5.5.1 Consideration has been given to the risk surrounding the re-opening versus the remained 

closure of the markets. There are risks attached to both but the risk of re-opening is 

considered mitigated through the changes that are proposed in this report.  

 

5.5.2 By ensuring that government guidance is adhered to, social distancing is established 

throughout all markets and supported with signage to assist all those in the markets vicinity, 

it is considered that the risks are mitigated to allow re-opening. Risk assessments have 

been reviewed as part of this.    

 

5.6 Staffing 

 

5.6.1 The recommendations will have an impact on staffing. Mainly the recommendation 

regarding the suspension of the market stall provision. Further detail regarding this is 

available in Appendix B. 

 

5.6.2 The re-opening of the toilets has impacted staffing tasks with a focus being placed on 

regular cleaning. This will mean that tasks will be re-focussed to enable staff the time to 

undertake this enhanced cleaning regime and some staff have agreed to alter working 

hours to assist with cleaning during busy periods. 

 

5.6.3 The proposals will also change the work undertaken by the staff supporting traders, namely 

the markets officer. Currently with Covid implications there has been an ongoing impact to 

this role. Therefore to implement this report, we will need to sufficiently staff this role in the 

current climate. 

 

5.6.4 The recommendation to terminate the collection of trade waste will also impact those staff 

that undertake this task. Currently this work is completed in an overtime capacity and is 

paid as such. The termination of this service will therefore cease payment of overtime to 

these members of staff. We intend to give notice to those staff that this work, and therefore 

the payments, will cease. 

 

5.7 Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales 

 

5.7.1 Contact with traders has been undertaken in order to consult them about potential changes 

that would need to be made to enable to safe re-opening of the market. The original 

proposals were shaped following feedback from traders. Subsequent feedback has further 

altered the proposals that we bring forward in this report. This has been done with ongoing 

discussions with the market representative. 

 

5.7.2 For Long Sutton, currently there is no consensus on how we can safely and legally re-open 

the market as, following discussions with Highways, there would not be a favourable 

Page 20



outcome to a request for a road closure. Therefore timescales for this market re-opening 

are not currently known. 

 

6) WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

 

6.1 All 

 

7) ACRONYMS 

 

7.1 SHDC – South Holland District Council 

7.2 NABMA – National Association of British Markets 

7.3 LCC – Lincolnshire County Council 

 

Background papers:- None 

 

Lead Contact Officer 

Name and Post: Charlotte Paine Environmental Services Manager 

Telephone Number 01775 764888 

Email: cpaine@sholland.gov.uk 

 

Key Decision: Y  

 

Exempt Decision: Y  

 

This report refers to a Discretionary Service  

 

Appendices attached to this report:  

Appendix A Market Options 

Appendix B Stall Provisions (EXEMPT) 

 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A 

APPENDIX A TO ORIGINAL CABINET REPORT - DRAFT LAYOUT FOR SPALDING MARKET 

Potential layout for Tuesday 16th June Market. Not confirmed currently 

 

P
age 23



 

Potential layout for Tuesday 16th June Market. Not confirmed currently 

 

P
age 24



Appendix B 

Cabinet – 16 June 2020 

Re-opening of South Holland’s markets, and Spalding market Stall provision (Minute) 

 

Consideration was given to the options for re-opening of the markets in South Holland and the 
market stalls provision at Spalding market. 
 
The Cabinet voted to exclude the press and public under Paragraphs 1 and 3 of Schedule 12A 
of the Local Government Act 1972 to consider the content of Appendix B. The press and public 
were re-admitted to the meeting for the remainder of the debate and the vote on the 
recommendations. 
 
The impact of Covid-19 on the UK had meant that the government had to make the decision to 
introduce lock-down and shut certain outlets, including markets. On 24th March the decision was 
made to close markets in South Holland following government guidance and for the safety of 
traders, staff and visitors.  
 
As the lock-down on England eased, the government announced on 24 May that outdoor 
markets could reopen from 1 June, so long as they were Covid-safe. Markets are an important 
part of the towns and should be opened as soon as they were safe to do so. However, changes 
to the way markets operate needed to be made in accordance with government guidance, 
dealing in particular with the requirement for social distancing.  
 
Changes needed to be made to the markets including location, pitch booking and stall provision 
to make them safe and to provide confidence to those returning to the towns. 
 
The Environmental Services Manager confirmed that there had been engagement with all 
traders, both regular and casual. The majority had continued to trade, stood on multiple markets 
and were comfortable with the level of support and engagement from the Council.  
 
An additional recommendation was proposed by the Portfolio Holder and agreed as follows: 
 
‘That the Environmental Services Manager be authorised, in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder for Place, to establish a Covid compliant market in the Market Place, Long Sutton if a 
road closure order can be obtained via the local Highway Authority and arrangements prove 
viable and achievable. If no such closure can be obtained the market to be established in the 
nearby council owned car park.’ 
 
The Portfolio Holder thanked the staff and ward members involved in the work detailed within 
the report. 
 
DECISION: 
 
1. That, in order to secure the safe re-opening of South Holland District Council markets, in line 
with government guidance introduced due to Covid-19, 
 

a) The current practice of erecting and dismantling SHDC stalls at Spalding Tuesday 
and Saturday markets be suspended; 
 
b) The removal of trade waste by South Holland District Council at Holbeach, Long 
Sutton and Crowland markets be terminated, thereby making the service equitable 
across all markets; 
 

Page 25



c) A book and pay system for traders who wish to stand at any SHDC market be 
introduced to enable a planned approach to market layouts each week and remove the 
need for cash handling, both of which assist with the opening of Covid-safe markets; 
 
d) In the event that, following the consultation referred to in Appendix B of the report, the 
current practice of erecting and dismantling stalls at the Spalding market is ended, the 
fees for Spalding traders be amended as shown at paragraph 1.20 of the report; 
 
e) A rent free period be introduced for traders until 31 July 2020 to support the recovery 
of markets; 
 
f) Social distancing procedures be introduced at all markets including changing the 
layouts to accommodate the new government guidance; 
 
g) The market trader handbook be amended in line with the above recommendations; 
 
h) The following toilets be re-opened with an enhanced, hourly cleaning regime: 

 
a) Spalding Vine Street and Winfrey Avenue, Tuesday to Saturday 8am to 4pm; 
 
b) Long Sutton and Holbeach, Monday to Friday 8am – 2pm. 

 
2. That the Portfolio Holder for Place be authorised to: 
 

a) designate a statutory market at Victoria Street car park should the volume of traders 
increase to such a point that it is deemed appropriate to enable the Spalding markets to 
operate safely in accordance with Governance guidance; and 
 
b) make a recommendation to Full Council or the appropriate Chief Officer (in 
consultation with the Chief Executive) in relation to any proposed impact on employment 
arising from the consultation process referred to in Appendix B; and 

 
3 That the Environmental Services Manager be authorised, in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder for Place, to 
 

a) Undertake the necessary consultation in relation to any proposed impact on 
employment referred to in Appendix B of the report; 
 
b) Change fees as set out; 
 
c) Procure and implement a book and pay system 
d) To continue to monitor the government guidance as part of the Covid-19 response 
and make amendments alongside guidance changes, as requested. 
 
e) Establish a Covid compliant market in the Market Place, Long Sutton if a road closure 
order can be obtained via the local Highway Authority and arrangements prove viable 
and achievable. If no such closure can be obtained the market to be established in the 
nearby council owned car park. 

 
(Other options considered: 
 
Option One – Make changes as outlined to enable the opening of the markets in line with 
government guidance. This will ensure that traders and customers can feel safe to return to 
our towns and shop locally, thereby supporting the local economy. Those changes include; 
 
· Introducing an online book and pay system 

Page 26



 
· Changing layouts at Spalding and Long Sutton markets 
 
· Suspending the provision of stalls in Spalding market 
 
· Amending the fees for traders in Spalding should stall provision cease 
 
· Ceasing the removal of trade waste at markets by SHDC 
 
· Introducing a rent free period for market traders until 31st July 2020 
 
· Re-opening of toilets in Spalding, Long Sutton and Holbeach with an hourly cleaning regime. 
 
Option Two – Do nothing and therefore markets cannot re-open safely in the current 
Covid environment.  
 
This option does not support our market towns, local economy, traders or residents to buy 
locally and is not the preferred option of this report. 
 
Reasons for decision: 
 
· The re-opening of markets is key to the vitality of our towns and local economy. The markets 
must open swiftly but safely and in line with government guidance. Ensuring the safety of our 
traders, businesses, town and market visitors and residents is of utmost importance to SHDC. 
Therefore we must make changes to allow the markets to open in line with guidance and 
provide confidence to those returning to our towns. 
 
· Each of the recommendations feeds into the wider picture of a safe and secure market offer 
whilst ensuring that alternative approaches, which can create savings for the council, are 
implemented where appropriate. 
 
· The introduction of an online book and pay system for traders is the first step in ensuring our 
markets are laid out safely and appropriate for each market’s needs. The best way for us to be 
able to monitor these layouts and flex and grow in the coming months is to have an accurate 
picture of the traders that wish to stand, their required pitch size and also reduce the need for 
face to face interaction for money collection. 
 
· Once we understand the numbers of traders wishing to stand, we must ensure that layouts are 
Covid safe. This means that we are complying with government and NABMA guidance. NABMA 
has a checklist of guidelines/considerations that can assist with making sure markets are safely 
re-opened and adhering to the 2m requirements. These include; 
 
· Limiting customer numbers  
· Managing aisle width 
· Considering stall layout and numbers 
· Creating one way systems 
· Using barriers  
· Installing signage 
 
· We have considered all of the above and have implemented the guidance to ensure our 
proposed layouts address each of these areas for safe distances between stalls, businesses 
and pedestrian traffic. 
 
The suspension of the current provision of stalls in Spalding is recommended whilst we review 
the impact of Covid and close proximity working and consider the financial implications for 
SHDC for maintaining the service. More detail regarding this is available in Appendix B. 

Page 27



 
· It is recommended that in light of the proposed stall provision suspension that the rent charges 
for Spalding be reviewed in line with the benchmarking exercise undertaken. This will support 
the traders and recognises that the removal of this service should result in a reduction in costs 
for traders where the costs have been reduced for SHDC. 
 
· The removal of trade waste that is only currently available at some, not all, markets provides 
an inequity which should be addressed. The practice comes at a cost to SHDC which is set to 
increase following changes to the charges for disposal levied by LCC. 
 
· It is important that we re-open the markets safely and that we support traders to return and 
therefore, the proposal to support traders with a rent free period until 31st July enables traders to 
return in the coming weeks whilst confidence is returned to the public to visit our towns. The re-
opening of the toilets in these towns is important to support the public back to them. However, 
as with everything in a Covid climate, changes are required. 
 
· It is therefore recommended that the Spalding toilets in Vine Street and Winfrey Avenue to re-
open Tuesday to Saturday 8am to 4pm with an hourly cleaning regime. These hours are 
recommended as they fall across the towns’ previously busy times and enable the restructuring 
of staff hours and duties to provide enhanced cleaning. For Long Sutton and Holbeach, the 
recommendation is to re-open Monday to Friday 8am to 2pm. Again these are considered the 
busy times in the towns and will enable the improved cleaning regime within current staffing 
levels. In Crowland, the toilets are maintained by the parish with support from SHDC and we 
have been in touch regarding our plans and suggested working practices.) 

Page 28



SOCIAL DISTANCING 
GUIDANCE
FOR MARKETS
Version 2
Issued 20th May 2020

Page 29



Page 2

4  - 5

6  - 7

8 - 9

10 - 14

15

CONTENT

INTRODUCTION

NABMA SUPPORT PLAN FOR MARKETS 2020

WHAT IS SOCIAL DISTANCING?

NABMA GUIDE TO SOCIAL DISTANCING

LINKS & SUPPORT

Page 30



Page 3

MAIN GOVERNMENT ADVICE

gov.uk/coronavirus 

 

NHS INFORMATION

nhs.uk/conditions/coronavirus-covid-19/ 

 

LINKS TO 
EXTERNAL 
INFORMATION

Page 31



Page 4

INTRODUCTION

Page 32



Page 5

The future of many markets, and that 
of thousands of small businesses, 
are being placed at risk as the 
government and scientists fight 
against the destructive impact 
of the COVID-19 pandemic.

At the date of this publication, only 
15% of the 1,120 traditional markets 
in the UK were understood to be 
still operating with the vast majority 
being closed since 23 March. The 
markets still trading, primarily for food, 
were experiencing an approximate 
80% drop in daily footfall. Over 
90% of markets were operating 
without charging trader rents, or had 
suspended all rental payments. 

The markets that continue to 
trade with food and essential 
goods have demonstrated strong 
partnerships between operator, 
traders and customers with some 
wonderful examples of innovation 
and success on our website.

Good practice can be found with 
markets turning to click and collect, 
delivery services and online sales. 
Underpinning the continuation of 
trading has been the need to do 
all we can to comply with social 
distancing requirements. 

LOOKING TOWARDS 
THE FUTURE

As thoughts look towards when 
markets can fully reopen again, then 
fundamental changes will need to 
be made to market layouts and their 
infrastructure, market facilities, 
customer access and pedestrian flow 
etc. to satisfy social distancing.  In some 
markets this may be easily achieved, 
but in others it will be more difficult. 

Based on the experiences of market 
managers that have kept their 
markets trading during the lockdown 
and the NABMA consultancy team, 
NABMA has produced this Social 
Distancing Guide for Markets (v2).

This guide has now been extended 
to include Open Markets – which 
will have, in many cases, even 
more operational problems for 
market managers to address.

This offers a practical tick box of 
measures that markets may need to 
address when government guidance 
allows trading to recommence. As 
well as the practical implications, 
there are significant staffing and 
resource matters to consider. 

It is hoped that this guide will promote 
the in-house discussion needed to 
help market managers put a strategy 
in place, so that when the lockdown is 
lifted, trading can resume successfully. 
With expert views that social 
distancing maybe in place for the rest 
of this year then urgent preparation 
by market teams is essential.

Page 33



Page 6

THE 
NABMA 
SUPPORT 
PLAN FOR 
MARKETS 
2020

The Cities and Local Growth 

Unit is a joint unit between 

the Department for Business, 

Energy and Industrial Strategy 

(BEIS) and the Ministry of 

Housing, Communities and Local 

Government (MHCLG). 

 

As a result of the impact of 

COVID-19, NABMA has been 

discussing with its Town Centre 

and High Streets Policy Team, 

Cities and Local Growth Unit, 

support measures to markets, 

and market traders, and as a 

result compiled a list of the 

essential support that we believe 

is needed to support, sustain and 

relaunch the markets industry.

Page 34



Page 7

NABMA has urged that a business rescue 
package is provided by government 
for its membership, that of the 
National Market Traders Federation 
and the wider markets industry. 

Five key points would need 
to be incorporated:

• Support for Traders and Small Businesses 
• A Business Interruption Compensation 

Scheme – reflecting “lost rents”
• Market Start Back Grant Scheme – to 

get markets back up and running again
• Business Rates – 100% 

relief for all markets
• A national support programme to 

restore markets and market trading

Following an extensive membership survey, 
NABMA has presented the financial 
and operational impact of COVID-19 to 
Government, demonstrating the risks and 
threats to the markets industry.

NABMA has secured from government 
agreement that Market Halls can now sell 
– in addition to food - all goods and services 
listed in the legislation as “essential”, including 
plants. Announcements by the Government 
are expected on phased openings of all retail 
premises and NABMA will aim to ensure 
parity for markets (indoor & outdoor) in its 
continuing discussions with Government 
representatives.

Markets are part of the fabric of towns and 
cities across the UK. They are the breeding 
grounds for low risk business start-up and 
will have a major role to play in the aftermath 
of COVID-19 in their historic settings. Sadly, 
they are now at the crossroads and for the 
majority to even survive, and then have a 
future, they need support, investment and 
encouragement. NABMA looks to government 
to now give that investment and confidence to 
an industry that has been part of community 
and commerce for many centuries.

We agree that retail 
markets will have 
an important role to 
play in helping the 
revival of high streets 
and town centres in 
the aftermath of the 
COVID-19 pandemic.

“

Simon Clarke MP
Minister of State
Housing, Communities &Local Government

Page 35



Page 8

SOCIAL 
DISTANCING
What Is Social Distancing?

Social distancing measures are steps 
you can take to reduce social interaction 
between people. This will help reduce 
the transmission of COVID-19. Detailed 
information from Public Health England 
is available here. 

As a reminder the measures are to:

• Avoid contact with someone who is 
displaying symptoms of coronavirus 
(COVID-19). These symptoms 
include high temperature and/or new 
and continuous cough

• Avoid non-essential use of public 
transport when possible

• Work from home, where possible. 
Your employer should support you 
to do this. Please refer to employer 
guidance for more information.

• Avoid large and small gatherings 
in public spaces, noting that pubs, 
restaurants, leisure centres and 
similar venues are currently shut 
as infections spread easily in closed 
spaces where people gather.

• Avoid gatherings with friends and 
family. Keep in touch using remote 
technology such as phone, internet, 
and social media.

• Use telephone or online services to 
contact your GP or other essential 
services.

The NABMA Guide to Social Distancing 
 
NABMA has been making 
representations to government that 
markets must be treated in the same way 
as other retail outlets.

This measure, of course, is subject to the 
support of operators and traders alike, 
and their shared responsibility to meet 
all government guidelines, and social 
distancing.

Ultimately, of course, the responsibility 
for all compliance will be with the 
operator.

Operators will appreciate that some 
markets are large, some small, that 
design and use systems differ across 
the UK and that local circumstances 
– including the availability of human 
resources - will impact upon how 
management creates a safe and 
workable system for their own market.  
The following issues are, therefore, 
for consideration by local market 
management.

NABMA is grateful to members of its 
consultancy team for preparing the 
below good practice, and questions to 
address, based on their experiences 
and discussions in the first month of 
restrictions.

This has created unprecedented change 
and challenge for market operators, 
traders and customers.

Page 36



Page 9

SOCIAL DISTANCING
SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
Social Distancing - The Expert Viewpoint

Social distancing will be needed until at least the 
end of the year to prevent fresh outbreaks of 
coronavirus even though the UK has reached the 
peak of the current epidemic, the government’s 
chief medical officer said on 23 April 2020.

Prof Chris Whitty, the UK’s most senior medic, 
said it was important to be realistic that “highly 
disruptive” social distancing would need to be in 
place for “really quite a long period of time”.
He said there was only an “incredibly small” 
chance of a vaccine or treatments being ready 
for use this year, and social distancing would 
have to stay in place to suppress outbreaks until 
then.

“We have to be very realistic,” he said. “If peo-
ple are hoping it’s suddenly going to move from 
where we are in lockdown to where suddenly 
into everything is gone, that is a wholly unrealis-
tic expectation.

“We are going to have to do a lot of things for 
really quite a long period of time, the question is 
what is the best package and this is what we’re 
trying to work out.

“If you release more on one area, you have to 
keep on board more of another area so there’s 
a proper trade-off and this is what ministers are 
having to consider.”

The Health and Safety Executive - Guidance

In these extraordinary times, HSE is constantly 
reviewing the fast-moving situation with their 
partners across government to support the 
national effort to tackle COVID-19. 

While social distancing is fundamentally a public 
health measure introduced to reduce the spread 
of infection, they recognise the concerns raised 
on social distancing within the workplace and are 
in contact with trade unions.

Where HSE identifies employers who are 
not taking action to comply with the relevant 
PHE guidance to control public health risks, 
e.g. employers not taking appropriate action 
to socially distance or ensure workers in the 
shielded category can follow the NHS advice 
to self-isolate for the period specified, they will 
consider taking a range of actions to improve 
control of workplace risks. These actions include 
the provision of specific advice to employers 
through to issuing enforcement notices to help 
secure improvements with the PHE guidance.

Further information can be found here.

The NABMA Support Plan for Markets

The five-point plan, prepared by NABMA, and 
endorsed by the NMTF can be read here.

Page 37



Page 10

NABMA 
SOCIAL DISTANCING GUIDELINES

✓ Guidelines / Considerations
May Apply to:

Indoor Outdoor

MEASURE SPACE

Measuring your spaces will give you an indication of the number 

of people to be allowed into the market at any one time so that 

customers can reasonably follow 2m social distancing. ✓ ✓

LIMIT CUSTOMER 
NUMBERS

Limit the number of customers in the market area at any time.
 

This is likely to mean the provision of additional staffing to 

manage the queuing and count numbers. Set an appropriate 

number of customers to be allowed in – depending on your local 

circumstances as above.

 

Use a colleague to meet customers, explain the social distancing 

requirements and control the number of customers entering 

the market area at any one time. In some circumstances, that 

colleague may need to be SIA licensed. 

 

While queuing is likely to be required, some people might be 

reluctant to accept this essential measure, so it is important that 

adequate resources are available through the market to assist 

as required.

Place markings outside the entrances to assist correct queue 
spacings.

Many fixed open markets, & marketplaces with demountable 
stalls and streets with market stalls may have lots of access 
points for the public which are extremely difficult to manage 
in terms of numbers of people able to access the markets 
areas. Routing the public into particular directions may be very 
difficult in such locations and this will be one of several factors 
in deciding whether a market can be reopened due to social 
distancing requirements. 
 
Consider reducing the number of entry and exit points and how 
you can effectively manage total customer numbers.

✓ ✓

AISLE WIDTH

Traditional open marketplaces with fixed stalls often provide 
public rows between the counters of facing stalls of some two 
metres wide or so. Measuring this distance and considering 
whether this fits with the Government’s guidance on two metre 
separation “where possible” is one consideration for local 
management.  

Consider whether only a single row of trading stalls is more 
feasible and where fixed stalls are facing each other whether 
just one row only is tradeable with a one-way access route in 
such situations. This would need to be supported by significant 
barriers and public signage to indicate routes.

✓ ✓

Page 38



Page 11

✓ Guidelines / Considerations
May Apply to:

Indoor Outdoor

STALL NUMBERS 
& LAYOUT

Limitations on stall numbers and / or careful placement of stalls 
may be required to create significant space between trading 
stalls.

Planning of stall layouts will be crucial to market operations to 
prevent close contact and to guide against large numbers of 
customers queuing together.

On permanently erected markets consider only allowing traders 
to occupy every other stall, leaving an empty stall in between, in 
order to create space to separate customers.

On markets with back to back rows of stalls, do not allow traders 
to stand back to back unless “back sheets” can be so placed as to 
act as virus barriers, in order to create sufficient useable space 
between traders.

✓ ✓

LIFTS
If you have lifts in your market hall, set appropriate numbers of 
people able to use them at the same time and provide signage 
accordingly. ✓

ONE-WAY

Consider whether a one-way system would work to support 
distancing requirements. If not, consider the width of public 
aisles and whether physical measures can be put in place 
to route and direct customers with appropriate distancing 
measures, including floor markings, to keep queuing and passing 
customers 2 metres apart “where possible”.

✓ ✓

BARRIERS

Consider whether temporary barriers should be available in case 

it is necessary  for managing queues or to stop people joining a 

queue.

Consider the use of metal barriers / fencing / retractable 
barriers / hazard warning barrier tape and other options, to 
assist customer queues and flows.

✓ ✓

SIGNAGE

Place clear signage inside & outside the market  explaining 
the social distancing measures in place that customers should 
follow. 
 
Layout plans exhibited throughout the market showing 
pedestrian routes and regular reminders about social distancing.

Floor stickers, taped floor areas and pop-up signage in queue 
areas  to denote two metre customer distancing.

✓ ✓

REMINDERS
Use in house announcement systems (where available) to 

frequently remind customers of the need for distancing. ✓ ✓

TOILETS

Market toilets for the public can be kept open subject to more 

frequent cleansing regimes being put in place. Particular 

arrangements should be considered for pregnant and disabled 

persons and for those with medical needs. Signage giving clear 

instructions to the number of people allowed at any one time 

and some form of number counting of users could be considered. 

Supervised staffing is an ideal, but it is acknowledged to be a 

significant problem due to resources.

✓ ✓

Page 39



Page 12

✓ Guidelines / Considerations
May Apply to:

Indoor Outdoor

CONSULT

Speak to nearby premises to work together to manage possible 

shared queuing areas and to assess their own plans, so they 

do not clash with your own, particularly in relation to outdoor 

queuing areas. Consult with partners such as local authorities, 

landowners, shopping centre managers and BIDs (where they 

exist) to determine the best way to avoid congestion for queues 

outside stores.

✓ ✓

SINGLE 
SHOPPING

Consider encouraging customers to shop alone wherever 
possible.

Suggest as part of your announcement about the opening of 

the market that you encourage as few members of a family as 

possible to shop, but recognise the difficulty you are likely to face 

of limiting access to only one family member at the entrance to 

the market.

✓ ✓

INNOVATION

In addition to traditional customer stall / counter service, 
consider options to accelerate ‘click and collect’ / online 
ordering and the introduction of a shopper permit system to 
enable customers to book time slots.

✓ ✓
INNOVATION

Encourage and support traders to develop online businesses in 
addition to their regular stall trading. ✓ ✓

FACE COVERINGS 
, GLOVES & 
SCREENS

Face coverings are now recommended as appropriate in certain 
circumstances, though not compulsory. You may wish to supply 
these to traders and customers or to strongly recommend the 
purchase of them by your traders. Traders need to take personal 
responsibility for protective measures such as plastic screens to 
act as barriers between servers and customers. 

It is important that masks & gloves are used correctly to 
minimise the risk of infection. The use of such PPE does not 
replace or reduce the need to follow the government guidance 
in relation to hygiene practices.

✓ ✓

HYGIENE

Provide at  the main entrance, and elsewhere in the market, 
sanitisers for the public use. Provide signs to encourage people 
to use them. 
 
Disinfectant wipes or spray and tissue for trolley/basket 
handles.

✓ ✓

HYGIENE

Ensure enhanced cleaning regimes can be provided. 
Identify and regularly clean key touch points e.g.. door handles, 
lift buttons, keypads, stair/escalator hand rails. Leave doors 
open if possible and where health and safety allows.

Additional cleansing regimes will need to be considered by 
management, for example where demountable stall handling is a 
necessity.

✓ ✓

CAFES, BARS & 
COFFEE SHOPS

The Government have indicated that an extension to allow 
cafés, bars & coffee shops to fully open is not to be included in 
the first phase of opening, with the exception of a take-away 
service (as is currently allowed).

Seating areas should be removed or made inaccessible. Shared 
condiments should be removed.

✓ ✓
Page 40



Page 13

✓ Guidelines / Considerations
May Apply to:

Indoor Outdoor

OPENING TIMES

Consider reduced market opening times particularly to 
ensure you have the resources to implement these guidelines 
effectively.

Consider restricted shopping hours for NHS/essential workers/

older people/ vulnerable groups but only implement if you can 

effectively manage such an arrangement. You will not need to 

check everyone’s ID but access will have to be carefully managed.

✓ ✓

TRADER ROTA

Consider whether it is necessary to rotate traders so that 

everyone has an equal opportunity of trading within the 

resources and space that you have available. ✓ ✓
SEATING

Prevent / restrict the use of all seating and opportunities for 

shoppers to dwell. ✓ ✓
VENTILATION

Increase ventilation indoors to help ensure that infectious 
aerosols are diluted and flushed out.  Avoid recirculating air to 
reduce concentration of infectious aerosols within a system. ✓

PHYSICAL 
CONTACT

Remove objects requiring physical contact, such as vending 
machines, children’s rides, mobile charging points, leaflet 
dispensers, customer accessible fridges etc.. ✓ ✓

CONTACTLESS 
PAYMENTS

Encourage, whenever possible, card payments by traders 
and seek to minimise cash transactions. Encourage the use of 
contactless payments. ✓ ✓

LITTER BINS

Increase number of litter bins to encourage customers to carry 
tissues and place in bin after coughing or sneezing. ✓ ✓

TRAINING

Training for traders & staff on social distancing and their 
responsibilities with regard to your market’s own guidelines. ✓ ✓

PARKING

Consider if changes are required to parking areas to increase 
the space between customer vehicles. ✓ ✓

DISPLAY SYSTEMS

Consider how traders setting out their stall areas with racks 
or different selling systems other than counters will be able to 
trade with social distancing factors in mind. ✓ ✓

TRADER 
AGREEMENT

Written instructions to traders regarding social distancing, 
cleansing, screening, etc - and to how those with staff can 
work together - may be necessary. Consider whether you need 
written undertakings by traders that they will follow your 
guidance/instructions if granted the ability to trade in your 
market

✓ ✓
SAFETY IS KEY

Safety for people is key – and overrides a trader’s wish to 
trade. Be aware that unregulated crowd situations and public 
unwillingness to abide by social distancing will give rise to higher 
health risks for people plus negative media attention.

✓ ✓
RISK

ASSESSMENTS

Do you consider that traders allowed in principle to “start back” 
should provide written risk assessments for you or your HASAW 
specialist to review and decide whether the way they wish to 
work is acceptable?

✓ ✓
Page 41



Page 14

✓ Guidelines / Considerations
May Apply to:

Indoor Outdoor

TRADER RETURN

The level of trader demand and the types of traders wanting 
to return will be different for each market, but management 
will have to create letting systems that can cope with local 
circumstances. 

With limited stalls available, for instance, will you aim to have 
a “free for all/first come first served/unlimited same goods 
traders” approach to your lettings system or a clear, nuanced 
approach that may allow only one trader selling particular goods 
to attend? Will you be able to offer different market day trading 
to same goods traders? Who, amongst your traders, wishes to 
return and how will you decide who can return?

Can you liaise and discuss with trader representatives and 
individual traders how to manage your operational and letting 
arrangements? Do you have a NMTF branch or a local trader 
organisation that you can consult with?

✓ ✓

KEEP UP TO DATE

Keep yourself familiar with Government instructions through 
the main Government portal at gov.uk/coronavirus.  Updates are 
often - and sometimes very detailed. They often refer to specific 
trades (exampled by food handling). 
 
NABMA clearly aims to be totally supportive to members, but 
there is a need for all market operators to take responsibility for 
fully updating themselves on the details from Government. 
 
Please see below for details of how to keep up to date.

✓ ✓

Whilst market halls have been allowed to open 
for food and other essential items to date, 
Government announced on 11 May 2020 that 
there is intended to be a phased reopening of 
retail outlets as from 1st June at the earliest.

NABMA will update guidance for markets 
management as and when that becomes 
available.

Prior to any phased reopening of retail outlets, as 
of mid May 2020, Government documents state 
that only food can be sold on Open Markets. 
NABMA is liaising closely with Government 
regarding potential extension of “essential” 
goods that may be able to be sold on Open 

Markets prior to full reopening and will update 
guidance for markets management should this 
situation change. 

NABMA appreciates that there are many 
different types, sizes and locations of markets 
around the country, so the guidance may not 
apply to all situations. Market operators will 
need to consider the operational factors specific 
to their own situations and the resources 
available to them at their own markets.

If effective social distancing cannot be 
implemented the operators will need consider 
whether a market goes ahead or is held in a 
reduced format.

Page 42



Page 15

USEFUL LINKS AND SUPPORT

In these fast changing times, you are advised to check the latest Government advice.

Main Government Portal
gov.uk/coronavirus

Working safely during coronavirus (COVID-19) 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/working-safely-during-coronavirus-covid-19

Business support including businesses that must be closed
https://www.gov.uk/coronavirus/business-support

Sign up for daily Government Updates
https://www.gov.uk/email-signup?link=/government/topical-events/coronavirus-covid-19-uk-
government-response

Government Portal for Scotland
https://www.gov.scot/coronavirus-covid-19/

Government Portal for Wales
https://gov.wales/coronavirus

Government Portal for Northern Ireland
https://www.nidirect.gov.uk/campaigns/coronavirus-covid-19

NABMA SUPPORT FOR MEMBERS

For general enquiries email: info@nabma.com
For IT support & media enquiries: support@nabma.com

Main NABMA Support Area 
https://nabma.com/covid-19-coronavirus/

Join Basecamp for Market Networking
https://nabma.com/basecamp/

Sign-up for Website Access to Member-only content
https://nabma.com/?/register/NABMARegistration

NABMA’s aim is to be supportive and helpful to its members in this new situation, to interpret 
government instructions and general guidance into practical market situations.

No one has operational experience in amending the human and physical assets of markets to cope 
with this situation – and it will be challenging.

Feedback from NABMA members on both positive and negative factors arising from operational 
implementation would be very welcome in order that this document can be kept up to date and so 
that colleagues can learn from each other.

Learning and supporting each other is the way for the NABMA family.
Page 43



Page 16

NABMA THANKS

NABMA extends its grateful thanks to John Walker, 
Colin Wolstenholme, Graham Wilson, Ian Holmes 
and Chris New as NABMA Consultants for their 
support in the preparation of this guidance.

David Preston
NABMA Chief Executive
May 2020

NABMA
The Guildhall

Oswestry
Shropshire

SY11 1PZ
01691 680713

nabma@nabma.com
twitter @nabma_markets

© NABMA 2020
Page 44



APPENDIX D 
 

Market Charter – email advice from Legal Services 
 
Good afternoon Councillor  
 
I have been asked to send to you a copy of the Council’s markets charter for Spalding.   In fact, in 
Spalding, whilst the market was originally a charter market, the charter was lost in the long distant 
past.  It would appear that what remains is a market by prescription, and this was conveyed in 1876 
by the Lords of the Manor of Spalding to the Spalding Improvement Commissioners “and their 
successors and assigns”.  Their duties and functions eventually passed, via the Spalding Urban 
District Council, to South Holland District Council.    
  
A typed copy of the 1876 conveyance is enclosed. It includes conveyance of land, as well as the right 
to hold markets and fairs. 
 
In those days the scribes were paid by the word so it is a bit lengthy.  The copy is actually on A3 
which doesn’t scan very well, so in order to ensure it is all there, you will find that wording from the 
bottom of every other page repeats onto the top of the next. 
 
If you put your mouse onto the document and right click you should get an option to “rotate 
clockwise”.  This will then make the document readable.  
 
The market rights are contained on the 7th and 9th pages of the conveyance, and basically state as 
follows: 
 
[the Lords of the Manor of Spalding] 
 
“DOTH HEREGY GRANT RELEASE AND CONVEY UNTO the said  Spalding Improvement Commissioners 
their successors and assigns ALL the fairs and markets of Spalding aforesaid and the right to hold the 
same AND ALL and EVERY the tolls dues duties and payments whatsoever appurtenant to the said 
fairs and markets and payable and to be paid in respect thereof in  as full and ample a manner as the 
same have been heretofore accustomed to be held taken and received by or on behalf of the said 
Lords of the Manor of Spalding aforesaid or their predecessors.” 
 
“TO HAVE and TO HOLD the said several fairs and markets and the right to hold the same customs 
tolls rights dues duties payment and hereditaments and ALL and SINGULAR  other the premises 
hereinbefore expressed to be hereby granted and conveyed with their appurtenance UNTO the said 
Spalding Improvement Commissioners their successors and assign” 
 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX E 

Market Review Timescale 

 

There has been an ongoing volume of work considering the markets and potential future options. A 

timeline of key milestones is below; 

 

Date Work Undertaken Outcome 

August 2019 

Met with NABMA chairman about SHDC 
markets and support that could be 
provided to review and reshape markets 

NABMA membership 
Attendance at Annual Conference 
Agreement for Spalding market to 
have official visit and health check 
report 

September - 
November 

2019 

Holbeach and Spalding Town Improvement 
Works report agreed by Cabinet in October 
and Council in November following 
evidence gathering and research about 
town regeneration and the role of markets.  

Fed into the Holbeach and 
Spalding Town Improvement 
Works report and the agreed 3 
year plan which agreed phase one 
to ‘Review and reshape the 
existing markets provision’ 

December 
2019  

Initial conversations with NABMA about 
the health check taking place following 
report having been agreed at cabinet 

Provided supporting data for 
current position and agreed to 
meet in February 2020 

December - 
February 2020 

Fees and Charges review and budget 
agreed post consultation with members 
about fees for stalls 
Budget, savings and fees and charges 
presented by portfolio to the group and 
shared with opposition by finance portfolio 
holder in meeting on 12th Feb 

Proposed fee increase is halted 
Stall provision potential savings 
identified and supported by 
NABMA meeting 

February – 
March 2020 

Meeting took place with NABMA and key 
issues agreed  

 Location of the market and 
Presentation 

 Current Retail Activity and Trends 

 Management and Staffing  

 Operational Issues  

 Market Stalls 

 Events and Promotion 
Key point from NABMA ‘Increasingly 
market towns have seen the removal of 
fixed market stalls or stalls pre-erected on 
a daily trading basis.’ 
 

Key considerations taken forward 
and considered alongside current 
Market Town programme. 
In particular stalls but also 
potential for market towns co-
ordinator to support with events 
and other items identified in 
report. 
Stall Provision report added to key 
decision planner to consider stall 
provision following NABMA 
feedback and potential savings  

February 2020 
Spalding Stakeholder Event for Market 
Towns Project group 

Feedback to be considered 
alongside NABMA report. 

March 2020 
Covid Restrictions and guidance issued 
alongside regular supporting updates and 
guidance from NABMA about national 

Markets suspended in line with 
government guidance and ongoing 
monitoring of national and 

Page 47



picture. National lockdown announced NABMA picture of markets 
position and consumer confidence 
in lockdown 

April 2020 
Contact from traders who wish to and have 
capacity to trade from vehicles and are 
permitted in guidance as food retailers. 

Street licenses provided to those 
eligible and that have requested to 
trade. 

May 2020 

NABMA advice on 12th May of potential for 
markets to re-open from 1st June. 
Considerations regarding potential impacts 
of re-opening in June in Covid environment 
key issues such as  

 trade waste 

 stalls 

 social distancing 

 book and pay  
Stall provision and post Covid report begins 
to take shape with key guidance from 
NABMA supporting opening and risks to be 
assessed  
Consideration given to gazebo style stalls 
and supporting traders through grants 
Contact made with traders  
Initial contact made with LCC re road 
closure in LS 
Book and pay potential procurement 
investigation work started 
Market fee comparisons undertaken 
Initial layouts considered and mapped 

Key questions identified for initial 
contact with traders in line with 
NABMA guidance on distancing 
and potential Covid impacts such 
as 

 layouts 

 social distancing 

 book and pay 

 general welfare check  

 likelihood to return on 1st June 
Phone or written contact made to 
all traders feedback from traders 
that they understand need to 
make Covid secure and want to 
return 
Benchmarking on prices show that 
Spalding reasonable price but 
could reduce if stalls removed 
 

June 2020 

Layouts further developed 
Consultation with members on stall 
provision options for Spalding 
Second contact made with traders offering 
support and making clear decision about 
no stalls, no trade waste and layout 
changes dues to social distancing following 
feedback from members 
Report developed further following 
feedback of members and traders 
Officer decision made in interim before 
cabinet report  
Decision to delay LS opening whilst focus 
on road closure options continued in depth 
with LCC 
Online booking form created whilst book 
and pay being worked on with suppliers 
Onsite meeting with traders regarding 
layouts 
Third contact with traders in Spalding 
regarding potential funding options 
available for purchasing own stalls 
Layouts agreed and traders contacted 

Insurance check undertaken for 
potential changes to markets 
Staff made aware of potential 
change to stall provision so as not 
to find out from public report 
Decision made to suspend stall 
provision whilst HR consultation is 
undertaken 
Decision on permanent stall 
ceasing will be made after 
consultation and back to Council 
or Chief Exec as per usual HR 
process for potential staffing 
impacts 
Feedback from small number of 
traders that they may want 
support and information about 
purchasing own stalls. Info 
provided to those who requested 
it. 
Market opens with good 
attendance and traders utilising 
their own stalls 

Page 48



again with these and online booking details 
Markets re-open in Spalding, Crowland and 
Holbeach 
Report agreed at Cabinet 
LCC agreed to temporary road closure 
using new Covid procedures 
Ward members support re-opening in LS 
and engage with businesses and traders 

Some traders have applied for 
funding from discretionary fund 
Traffic management agreed and in 
place for new opening 

July 2020 

Long Sutton Market to re-open from 3rd 
July 
Post return feedback calls with traders 
being undertaken 2nd/3rd July  

Feedback will be used to 
understand any potential changes 
that may need considering 

 

Consultation and Decision Detail 

 March - Letters sent to traders regarding market closure and business support available 

 Week commencing 15th June – Consultation questions with traders work commenced with 

calls taking place over 2 weeks 

 26th May - Markets Briefing Paper shared with Gold and Leader  

 28th May - Feedback collated from trader calls and shared with members on 4th June 

 2nd June – Consultation emails to all members regarding Spalding stalls 

 3rd June - Markets Opening Briefing further detail shared and discussed 4th June member call 

 4th June – consultation emails with members regarding LS and Spalding layouts 

 4th June - LS market removed from markets opening report whilst LS work continues with 

LCC 

 5th June - Further contact made with traders following member feedback 

 8th June - Trader feedback shared with Gold and Leader 

 8th June - Contact with traders who had expressed interest in stall support and discretionary 

funding details supplied to those who requested it 

 9th June - Officer decision for markets published in interim until Cabinet report  

 10th June - Consultation on site with market rep and traders and Cllr Newton  

 11th -13th June - Contact with traders regarding start dates post officer decision 

 16th June - Cabinet and paper agreed 

 22nd June – Letters sent to traders to confirm outcome of Cabinet report 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX F 

Member Stall Feedback 

 

On 2nd June an email was sent to all members asking for feedback on the following options; 

 Option One. SHDC to Purchase stalls which traders rent as part of their weekly fee. 
o This would mean a capital cost for the council which would be recovered through 

rent payments by the traders 
o Traders would be expected to be responsible for the gazebo (and could use them on 

other SHDC markets)  
o There would be a fair wear and tear agreement with traders 
o Sufficient weights would be available for the weather of the day and the gazebos are 

high quality and market specific  
o Rents will be the same as they are now as it will cover the payment of these gazebos 

for those renting but less for those with their own stall 
o Additional stalls would be available to allow casual traders to rent from us and trial 

using our market 

 Option Two. Traders to provide their own stalls. 
o This would mean no outlay cost for the council 
o A number of traders have told us they have their own stalls currently (55%) 
o There is a discretionary fund that traders could access that would enable them to 

purchase their own stalls  
 We would support this and would mean they could use their gazebo on any 

market, not just SHDC 
o Rent will be reduced to remove the rental cost that is incorporated in option one 
o Stalls would need to be suitable and appropriate in line with our traders handbook 

which we would look to update as soon as possible to incorporate all Covid related 
changes 

  

Turn around was short and responses were requested by mid-day on 3rd June in order to discuss with 

the leader and deputies and shape the report and direction of markets re-opening. 

Most responses were received within the timescale though there were 3 responses received after 

and therefore not considered in the initial feedback. There were councillors who made reference to 

liking both options. 

 Option One. SHDC to Purchase stalls which traders rent as part of their weekly fee. 
o Received 6 in support within timescale 
o An additional 3 in support were received after the allotted time 

 Option Two. Traders to provide their own stalls. 
o Received 11 in support within the timescale 

 

Therefore at the end of the time given it was 11 to 6 in favour of option two. 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX G 

Markets Budget 

 

Markets Year  

   

  

Subjective 

Analysis 

2018/19 

Outturn 

2019/20 

Outturn 

2020/21 

Budget 

2020/21 

Forecast 

Forecast 

Variance 

Employees 95,210 91,263 95,300 95,300 - 

Premises 19,240 16,184 17,400 17,600 200 

Transport 2,838 1,455 3,200 3,200 - 

Supplies & 

Services 6,948 6,427 7,000 7,000 - 

Highways 

Maintenance 28,100 28,100 31,000 31,000 - 

Support Services 8,417 6,800 13,100 13,100 - 

Depreciation 1,327 1,327 1,300 1,300 - 

Income -  102,941 -    88,420 -     85,000 -      56,667 28,333 

Grand Total 59,141 63,136 83,300 111,833 28,533 

 

 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 55

Agenda Item 6
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 61

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 83

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 89

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Call In (Re-opening of South Holland's Markets, and Spalding Market Stall provision)
	Appendix A1
	Appendix A2
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D
	Appendix E
	Appendix F
	Appendix G

	6 Call-In (Re-opening of South Holland's Markets and Spalding Market Stall Provision)
	Appendix I
	Appendix J
	Appendix K


